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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

DAMARCUS REDMON,
Plaintiff,
Case No. 18-2087-DDC-KGG

V.

GENERAL MOTORS COMPANY, et al.,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

This matter comes before the court on defendants General Motors Company and General
Motors LLC, GMVM Fairfax Assembly Plarg’Motion for Summary digment (Doc. 61).
Plaintiff Damarcus Redmon has filed a Respongi(B8). And, defendants have filed a Reply
(Doc. 70). For reasons explained belove tlourt grants defendants’ summary judgment
motion.
l. Uncontroverted Facts

The following facts are stipulated by the tes in the Pretrial Order (Doc. 58) or are
uncontroverted for purposes of the partieshewary judgment motions. The Pretrial Order
provides that all exhibits marked or usedidgrdepositions and all documents produced during
discovery meet the evidentiary standardddoindation and authenticity. Doc. 58 at 6.

Defendants General Motors Company and @ridotors LLC (collectively, “GM”) are
corporate or limited liabilitcompanies who manufacture automobiles across the United States
and abroad, including at the GM Fairfax Assgnilant (“Fairfax Plant”) in Kansas City,

Kansas.
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A. Defendants’ Policies

The GM Fairfax Plant is a unionized fagilitand a local chapter of the United Auto
Workers union (“UAW”) represents a bargaig unit, which includes production and
maintenance workers. Plaintiff was a memtiethe bargaining unit and was covered by the
collective bargaining agreement between @&hd the UAW. GM has Equal Employment
Opportunity and Anti-Discrimination workplagmlicies that prohikidiscrimination and
harassment in the workplace based on protediathcteristics (includg race, sex, and gender)
and retaliation for complaints of discriminai based on race, sex, gender, and other protected
characteristics.

1. Attendance policies

GM provides new employees, including pl#in(a temporary employee), with an
orientation spanning multiple days. Plaintéteived a copy of GM’s orientation packet.
During this orientation program, GM reviewitsl workplace policies, described above. The
orientation packet that plaintiff receivedntained language from GM’s Equal Employment
Opportunity and Anti-Harassment policies, which plaintiff testified he understood. Doc. 68-5 at
23-25 (Redmon Dep. 21:1-23:15). During orieotatplaintiff received and acknowledged his
receipt of GM’s Employee Attendance and ShopeRRolicy. That policy provides that GM
“may terminate . . . employment for unstaigory performance and disregard of GM’s
expectations [including] any unexcused atluss, violation of Shop Rules or Plant/GM
Policies.” Doc. 62-5 at 2. During orientatidblV reviewed its attendae policy, and plaintiff
understood that absences, without proper natific to management, constituted grounds for
termination. GM informed plaintiff, and pldiff confirmed he understood, that attendance was

mandatory for all temporary and flex employees.



GM also informed plaintiff, and plaintiffonfirmed he understood, that he was required
to call in any non-preapproved abses at least 30 minutes beftrie scheduled shift start time,
and that calling in his absend& not mean the absence was approved. “If [a] . . . temporary
employee calls in and state[s] that they are gtortge absent and they give a date out in the
future, they are not required ¢all in every day going forward. However, they are still required
to call in 30 minutes prior to ¢hstart of their shift.” Do®8-3 at 22 (Tutt Dep. 79:2-7). If a
temporary employee misses two days of work, IB8dks to the “specifics of the case™—such as
the employee implying or notifying anyone thatgi@nned to quit—to determine whether to
release the employedd. at 23 (Tutt Dep. 81:24-82:22). “Ifélemployee has called in stating
that they are sick or injured, we will wait to séeve hear back from the employee. Until they
have contacted GM to advise that they arealgtimedically unable to work, again, we will look
at all of the information that we cemtly have to make a determinatiorid. at 23 (Tutt Dep.
82:16-22). This information canclude medical documentation.

2. Policies about employee complaints

If GM receives a complaint—either vedlor written—from an employee, GM’s
management reviews the complaint with the complatinand then investigates the allegations in
the complaint to decide whether to take dikegry measures. GM asks the complainant and
witnesses to write statementSM also asks the complainantitentify any withesses and may
check to see who worked in the area where the incident occurred. GM recommends that
employees conducting investigations note tepsthey took in the investigation. The
investigation is documented in both the complaiisaile and the file of the employee named in

the complaint.



3. Policies applicable to temporary employees

GM hires temporary employees to replaggular employees who are not working.
Temporary employees cannot take a sick leave of absence; instead, they are placed on medical
leave. Temporary employees receive opportunitieonvert to permanent employees based on
their employment start date. GM’s policies femporary employees provide that a temporary
employee who violates a minor shop rule will igeea written warning or reprimand for their
first and second violations, pralad that the employee was hideast 90 days before the
violation. Employees may request a union repriesime when they receive a warning. These
minor infractions are shop rule violations thatuld not result in a “time off” penalty for a
regular employeeld. (Tutt Dep. 81:4-6).

Temporary employees do not have seniority tbase who work at least 90 days also are
eligible for 24 hours of unpaid time off, subjeéstmanagement’s approval. But, temporary
employees do not have access to a procesgHreyse to request positions based on their
“restrictions and limitations,” as defined by a ttwc Doc. 68-2 at 45 (Hawkins Dep. 43:1-4).
GM allows for “favorable discharge” ofrtgporary employees who cannot work for medical
reasons. These favorable discharges allow employees to return to their positions once they are
healthy enough to work. Doc. 68-10 at 11 (kizelman Dep. 9:10-18). GRlso enters into
“last chance agreements” with some employeé®sd agreements allow terminated employees
to “return to work under ...certain stipulations.’ld. at 9—10 (Heintzelman Dep. 7:21-8:13).
Sheila Heintzelman, a GM staff nurse, testifieat tthe has observed GM enter into last chance
agreements with former employees who tagdy abuse issues and attendance problédns.

(Heintzelman Dep. 8:7-13).



B. Plaintiff's Employment

Plaintiff Damarcus Redmon is male andié&n-American. In September 2015, he was
hired as a five-days-per-week temporary emplatedbe GM Fairfax Plant. He started working
at the plant on September 28, 2015, as an assdimbhyorker on the second shift, which starts
at 2:30 p.m. The Fairfax Plant’s assenlbig has a moving conveyor belt where employees
place parts onto a vehicle angprect it as it moves along the beimployees working at the
Fairfax Plant must be able to walk and stangedorm their jobs, regardless of their assigned
department.

Plaintiff began working &M in the Chassis Department on the “show-line.” This
arrangement required him to assemble the gasued the fiber glass cover for hoods. He was
reassigned to the “motor-line” before June 2046 @emained on that line until he was fired in
November 2016. His duties on the motor-lin€luded operating a crane. The crane
manipulated a machine, which connectedtthesmission to the motor in the vehicles
manufactured by the machine. Plaintiff worked three-man team, and his job required him to
use the crane to pick up the tsamssion, guide it to the machirend drop it into a motor that
already had been placed on thachine. After dropping the transmission into place, plaintiff
pushed the transmission and motor togetheresodxt person on the assembly line could bolt
them to one another. Plaintiff also workedtbe wire harness team. His job there involved
taking wire harnesses out of their delivery gx@dacing them on motors, and using a small drill
to secure the wire in prefabricated holes omtio¢ors. Plaintiff did ndneavy lifting, and he and

other GM employees sat dowlaring the machine’s cycle.



C. Plaintiff's Complaints

1. Plaintiff's complaint about Austin Cornelius

On October 8, 2015, plaintiff made a comipldo Labor Relations Representative
Michael Poirier against his co-worker, Austinr@elius. Mr. Cornelius had no supervisory or
managerial responsibilities, and he worked mghme department but in a different group, team,
and shift from plaintiff. Plairiff reported that Mr. Cornelius JXhrew an item at the back of
plaintiff's head; (2) called plaintiff a “little b¢h”; (3) grabbed and twisd plaintiff's nipples;
and (4) poked and grabbed plaintiff on the sidelangr back. Also, plaiiff asserted that Mr.
Cornelius said the music plaintiff listened todeavir. Cornelius’s ears &d and that plaintiff
looked like a gay rapper named “Baby.” Doc. 68 at 11-12.

Plaintiff identified co-worker Josepha La&mith as a witness to Mr. Cornelius’s
conduct. Mr. Poirier requested a statement fptmmtiff and Ms. Lara-Smith about plaintiff's
allegations. Mr. Poirier also spoke with Mr. Celins. Mr. Cornelius admitted hitting plaintiff
in the back of the headitlr a cap—though he asserted it was accidental—and admitted to
poking plaintiff. But, he denied the other gigions. Plaintiff did not know why Mr. Cornelius
threw an object at the back of his head, but kified that it was not sexual. Doc. 68-5 at 47-48
(Redmon Dep. 45:14-46:16). Plaihbelieves that Mr. Cornelius and other GM employees
sexually harassed and racially discriminated ag&ing in violation of GM’s policies. Doc. 68-
4 at 3. Ms. Lara-Smith told Mr. Poirier thatesiitnessed an object ltaintiff. Specifically,

Ms. Lara-Smith told Mr. Poirier that shewsdr. Cornelius throw amwbject, but that Mr.
Cornelius was playing with another coworkeddre missed the coworker, hitting Mr. Redmon.
She denied any knowledge about the other allegatibiss Lara-Smith also told Mr. Poirier that
she did not personally witness Mr. Cornelius top@intiff or witnesglaintiff “touch or do

anything with” Mr. Cornelius. Doc. 68 at 12.
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Mr. Poirier issued Mr. Cornelius an “Employ€entact” (a form of ocunseling that is not
formal discipline) and reminded Mr. Cornelitmat GM does not tolerate harassment. Mr.
Poirier warned Mr. Cornelius that violatingetnti-Harassment policy, or other unsatisfactory
job performance, could result in disciplinaryian, up to and including tenination. Mr. Poirier
wrote in an email to GM’s corporate represémta Ca-Sandra Tutt, thae did not “spend too
much time” on the investigation and reviewatdEmployee Contact document in another
employee’s file involving Mr. Corneliusld. at 29. GM placed all the information about
plaintiff's complaint against Mr. Cornelius the employee folders of plaintiff and Mr.
Cornelius.

After complaining about Mr. Cornelius’s conduplaintiff testified that he was “pulled”
into the office of another employee, Al Patiral)Jeast twice. Doc. 68-5 at 96 (Redmon Dep.
96:18-22). Mr. Patinel saidahtiff hadn’t put certain pés on cars moving through the
assembly line that plaintiff “kn[ejfor a fact [he] was putting on.Id. at 101 (Redmon Dep.
99:2-10). Plaintiff testified thdte didn’t know why he had been leal into Mr. Patinel’s office,
though he thought it “had somethitgydo with” his complaint.ld. at 98 (Redmon Dep. 98:5-7).
Plaintiff testified that Mr. Patinel “threaten[éd]laintiff's “seniority job”—which plaintiff
described as an easier job typicallyfpemed by employees with seniorityd. at 99 (Redmon
Dep. 99:11-22).

Within two business days of plaintiff's oglaint against Mr. Cornelius, Mr. Poirier
moved Mr. Cornelius from the Chassis Deparitm&directly by” plaintiff, to the Trim
Department. Doc. 62-3 at 31 (Redmon Dep8+#65). After Mr. Cornelius was transferred,
plaintiff had no further discussioms physical contact with Mr. Cornelius. Mr. Cornelius also

made no gestures at plaintiff. But, plaintifiserted, Mr. Cornelius oftevisited his mother at



the motor-line where plaintiff was moved. Plain&f§o stated that Mr. Cornelius “create[d] an
uncomfortable and unwanted work environmensityng directly across from [plaintiff] at
lunch as to intimidate [him] for reporting the sexbatassment.” Doc. 68-4 at 3 (Redmon Aff.
1 16).

Plaintiff did not report any incidents ofaeal or racial discrimination or harassment
between November 2015 and his birthday in May 2016.

2. Plaintiff's complaint about Mayra Hernandez

On June 2, 2016, plaintiff reported to Mr. Reiirthat he had received two penis-shaped
cakes from his co-workers for his birthday onyVed, 2016. Plaintiff posted pictures of the two
cakes on his Facebook page on May 26. With tbtei@, he posted the following text: “The
reason why | can’'t wear basketbsilorts or sweats to work, theyll call me Big D at work, and
here’s my birthday cake. LOL.” Doc. 62X (first citing Doc. 62-3 at 39—-40, (Redmon Dep.
109:18-110:6), 41-42 (121:25-122:2); then citing Doc. 67-2 at 4-5 (Facebook images)). The
cakes were frosted differently: one had light@blate frosting, and thelar had dark chocolate
frosting. They were two feet long and one foadieyiwith blueberries. Plaintiff reported that
someone told him the blueberries either regmésd African-American pubic hair or herpes.
Other employees witnessed plaintéceiving the cakes during working hours.

Plaintiff's supervisor, Joe Heany, was prasehen plaintiff received the two cakes.
Plaintiff reported to Mr. Heany &t he was uncomfortable with the cakes and that they were
unwelcome and offensive. Doc. 68-4 at 3 (Red Aff. 1 17), 5 (Redon Aff.  28). But,
plaintiff testified, Mr. Heany tooko action after plaintiff madenis report. GM’s corporate

representative, Ms. Tutt, testifl that the cakes could bensidered offensive. And, GM



admitted that images and depictions of penises are inappropriate for the GM work environment.
Doc. 68-11 at 3.

Plaintiff informed Mr. Poirier that theakes were baked by his co-worker, Mayra
Hernandez, and he explained in his complaimy the conduct was unwelcome and offensive to
him. Ms. Hernandez had no supervisory or managesponsibilities.Mr. Poirier spoke with
Ms. Hernandez, who denied baking the cakes. Hédsnandez expressedgrise to Mr. Poirier
that plaintiff had complained about the cak&he reported that plaintiff had laughed at the
cakes and showed no indication he was offendetidiy. Doc. 62-6 at 4 (Poirier Decl. T 14).
But, plaintiff stated in anflidavit that he “never welcomeor encouraged sexually explicit
conversations at work and was highly offended when [he] received the cakes.” Doc. 68-4 at 3
(Redmon Aff. 1 18). GM did nanterview anyone othhehan Ms. Hernandeo discern who had
made the cakes. GM'’s corporate represargails. Tutt, testifiedhat no documentation
existed to indicate Mr. Poirier had completedrarestigation summaryGM did not review
plaintiff's complaint with him, nodid GM ask plaintiff to disclosany witnesses of the incident.

Mr. Poirier issued Ms. Hernandez Bmployee Contact—which is not formal
discipline—where he reminded her that GM does not tolerate harassment. Specifically, Mr.
Poirier warned Ms. Hernandezthviolating the Anti-Harassmenpblicy, or other unsatisfactory
job performance, could result in disciplinarytian up to and including termination. Doc. 62-6
at 4 (Poirier Decl. 1 16). Mslernandez was not moved to anotheea of the plant. Also, she
was not suspended or terminated.

Plaintiff was able to perform the physical tagk his job but tesiiéd that the workplace
was a “stressful environment” because he aund people who had touched him in the wrong

way or thought of him as a “sexual objécDoc. 68-5 at 144 (Redmon Dep. 142:6-16).



Plaintiff also testified that otlhemployees commented and jokdmbat plaintiff's penis, its size,
and its relationship to his African-American heritage.

D. Plaintiff's Layoff

Beginning in June 2016, plaintiff was absent from work at the GM Fairfax Plant. He
testified that he called the absentee line nurpbavided to him from June 2016 until September
2016 to inform GM that he would be absent fravork because he was sick. GM has no records
of the Central Time call-in log from June 2016 until September 2016. On June 14, 2016,
plaintiff was laid off from the GM Fairfax Plarthecause he had not come to work. On July 1,
2016, plaintiff returned to GM’s Medical Departntdor a “Return to Work Evaluation,” but he
was not reinstated. Doc. 68 at 35.

On September 26, 2016, plaintiff again returteethe GM FairfaXPlant and presented
medical documentation for his absence, which hetel to bring when he returned to work.
During his fitness for duty examination, plaihinformed the GM Fairfax Plant Medical
Department that he had been absent beaayseéimonary embolisms and had received
treatment for his condition. Nurse Sheila Hesttzan examined plaintiff and concluded he was
fit to return to work withoutestrictions. Also on Septdrar 26, 2016, plaintiff completed a
“Return to Work Questionnaire.” The Questionnaetected that plaintiff could return to full-
duty work from “[d]isability or [clompensable [lleaveld. at 35. The discharge was removed
from plaintiff's record and was coded as a lffy@cause plaintiff had been unable to perform
his job.

Accordingly, plaintiff was recalled frofayoff effective on September 26, 2016. On

September 29, 2016, plaintiff was offered, and asxzkghe opportunity to convert from a five-

1 Nothing in the summary judgment record suggests that Mr. Redmon made any inteptaint®mbout this
behavior.
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days-per-week temporary employee to a two-days-per-week temporary employee, effective
October 31, 2016. This conveassiopportunity was offered mther five-day temporary
employees at the GM Fairfax Plant.

E. Plaintiff's Termination

Beginning on October 10, 2016, plaintiff againsneosent from work at the GM Fairfax
Plant. Between October 10, 2016, and Noven@b@016, plaintiff did not contact the UAW
Committeeperson, the GM Fairfax Plant LaRa&lations/Employment offices, or the GM
Fairfax Plant Medical Department about his alees. Plaintiff's employment was terminated
from the GM Fairfax Plant on November 2, 2016.

In November 2016, plaintiff spoke witbwayne Hawkins, his UAW Committeeperson,
about his termination. Plaintifequested a leave of absence from GM but was ineligible because
he was a temporary employee. Mr. Hawkins speitek GM Fairfax Plant Personnel Director
Rita Derencius about the termination. Pldintias offered a position as a two-days-per-week
temporary employee with a new hatate for purposes of his seniority.

Plaintiff failed to report to work on Noweber 28, 2016, rejecting the offer of a position
as a two-day temporary employee. GM repreegkthat plaintiff was terminated because of
“[ulnexcused absences from waahd failure to properly report.Id. at 36. GM also
represented that plaintiff had rnreticeived management approval or notified management of his
absences at least 30 minutes before his shifttstaat But, plaintiff asserts that he followed
GM’s policy and reported his absences in Oct@rel November 2016. He asserts that GM has
“no way to ascertain precisely when [piiaif called his absences in” because GM’s
timekeeping system doesn’t recaalls to report absences whiiey begin—instead, the system

records calls when they enttl. at 16. Also, plaintiff asserthat GM’s policy does not require
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employees to call in every day once they have tedan absence with a future return date. GM
asserted that plaintiff was given a verbal wagnibut plaintiff was give no disciplinary verbal,
written, or final warning about siattendance. Plaintiff alseaqorded a conversation with GM
nurse Sheila Heintzelman, during which Ms. Hz#iman told plaintiff that he received a
“favorable discharge”—meaning that he wast‘terminated for disciplinary reasondd. at 17
(citing Doc. 68-10 at 14—-15 (Heintzelman Dep:1172-13:3)). Ms. Heintzelman also authored a
nurse’s note stating that plaintiff was “termtiea for unknown reasonsId. (citing Doc. 68-10
at 36 (Heintzelman Dep. 34:4-9)).

F. Plaintiff's Disability

During plaintiff's employment with GM, hevas diagnosed with pulmonary embolisms,
deep vein thrombosis, and a tumor on his luHg.also was diagnosed with cardiomyopathy,
disseminate distoplasmosis, and hypercoadgilstate, beginning in June 2016. One of
plaintiff's treating physicians, Lawrence Dall,inpd that at least from October 2016 until at
least December 16, 2016, plaintiff was “not in aifi@s to work at the assembly line.” Doc. 68-
9 at 14 (Dall Dep. 12:18-23). Mr. Dall explainedtthe assumed the assembly line work was a
“very active type of physical beor,” and that helidn’t have any personal knowledge of the
assembly line jobs, or any jobs, at GM. at 15 (Dall Dep. 13:1-12)e testified that, at the
time of Mr. Dall’'s deposition, plaintiff had shawclinical improvement and could go back to
work.

On November 17, 2016, plaintiff presentihe Stark, a doctor working in GM’s
Medical Department, with a noteofn the Mayo Clinic. The notesserted that plaintiff needed
to “refrain from strenuous activities.” Doc. 683t. Ms. Stark interpreted this restriction to

mean plaintiff only could perform sedentary wo&M did not have a record from plaintiff's
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doctor restricting him to sedentary work. B@iyI's doctor recommendea@turning plaintiff to
sedentary, self-paced work with the abilitystbdown as needed throughout the day. GM does
not have sedentary positions available to seniority-based employees. Doc. 68-11 at 7.

The Social Security Administration (“SSAdetermined that plaintiff was disabled,
effective November 30, 2016. That determinatidaldshed that plairffiwas disabled within
two weeks of his rejection @M'’s offer to rehire him as a two-days-per-week temporary
employee. Since then, plaintiff has not returteethe SSA to have the disability determination
reversed or modified. He participates in&®A program called “Right to Work,” under which
his disability status is fject to modification. Dod8-5 (Redmon Dep. 257:22—-258:3), 320
(Redmon Dep. 318:4-23). On December 14, 201&&msas Department of Labor completed
an Able and Available StatementNkdical Condition for plaintiffreflecting that he was able to
perform “light duty work that @i not include strenuous activity orstieart, lungs[,] or chest.”
Doc. 68 at 34. On December 16, 2016, plaintiff espnted to the Kansas Department of Labor
that he was unable to work. Plaintiff digd for three jobs in December 2016 and then, on
November 5, 2018, plaintiff began training ati&hce Data. There, he receives $15 per hour.

G. Equal Employment Opportunity Commisson Charges of Discrimination

On November 18, 2016, more than 48@ays after his complaint about Mr. Cornelius,

plaintiff filed his first Charge of Discrimiation with the Equal Employment Opportunity

2 The relevant statute, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5, provides the following:

A charge under this section shall be filed witlime hundred and eighty days after the alleged
unlawful employment practice oaced and notice of the chardcluding the date, place and
circumstances of the alleged unlawful employment practice) shall be served upon the person against
whom such charge is made within ten days dhfter, except that in eaase of an unlawful
employment practice with respect to which the pemggrieved has initiallystituted proceedings

with a State or local agency . . . such charge shall be filed by or on behalf of the pgrsmredg

within three hundred days afteethlleged unlawful employment pt&e occurred, or within thirty

days after receiving notice thattlstate or local agency has tarated the proceedings under the
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Commission (“EEOC”). In that Girge, plaintiff checked boxes indicating that race, color, sex,
and disability all were bases for the allegkgtrimination, but he did not check the box for
retaliation. And, on March 22, 201flaintiff filed an Amended Cdrge of Discrimination with
the EEOC. He again checked the form’s boxes for race, color, sex, and disability, but not
retaliation. In his Amended Chga, plaintiff explained thdte had “received a favorable
termination and was eligible for rehire,” busttermination based on [his] disability caused
[him] to lose [his] full time temp statusd the benefits therein.” Doc. 1-1 at 1.

In their Answer to plaintiff's Complainjefendants assertedatiplaintiff had not
exhausted his administrative resies for his retaliation claim.

Around April 24, 2017, plaintiff filed a Charge Biscrimination with the Kansas Human
Rights Commission. In this Chargdaintiff checked boxes for raceplor, sex, and disability as
the bases for his Charge.

Il. Legal Standard

A. Summary Judgment Standard

Summary judgment is appropgaf the moving party demonstrates that “no genuine
dispute” exists about “any materfakct” and that it is “entitled ta judgment as a matter of law.”
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). When it applies thisskard, the court views ¢hevidence and draws
inferences in the light mostvfarable to the non-moving partifNahno-Lopez v. House825
F.3d 1279, 1283 (10th Cir. 2010). “An issue of facgenuine’ ‘if the evidence is such that a
reasonable jury could return a verdimt the non-moving party’ on the issueld. (quoting

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)). “Ardue of fact is ‘material’ ‘if

State or local law, whichever is earlier, and a copy of such charge shall be filed by thes§&iomm
with the State or local agency.

42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(€)(1).
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under the substantive law it is essential to the proggodition of the claim’ or defenseld.
(quotingAdler v. Wal-Mart Stores, Incl44 F.3d 664, 670 (10th Cir. 1998)).

The moving party bears “both the initial den of production on a motion for summary
judgment and the burden of establishing that sumpioagment is appropriate as a matter of
law.” Kannady v. City of Kiowa90 F.3d 1161, 1169 (10th Cir. 2010) (citifginor v. Apollo
Metal Specialties, Inc318 F.3d 976, 979 (10th Cir. 2002))o meet this burden, the moving
party “need not negate the non-movant’s claim,ragd only point to aabsence of evidence to
support the non-movant’s claimld. (citing Sigmon v. CommunityCare HMO, In234 F.3d
1121, 1125 (10th Cir. 2000)).

If the moving party satisfiess initial burden, the non-movinggarty “may not rest on its
pleadings, but must bring forward specific fagti®wing a genuine isstier trial [on] those
dispositive matters for which darries the burdeof proof.” Id. (quotingJenkins v. Woqd1
F.3d 988, 990 (10th Cir. 1996p¢cord Celotex Corp. v. Catre#t77 U.S. 317, 324 (1986);
Anderson477 U.S. at 248—-49. To shoulder this bardéhe facts must be identified by
reference to affidavits, depositi transcripts, or specific exhibits incorporated thereAxler,
144 F.3d at 670 (citinfhomas v. Wichita Coca-Cola Bottling C868 F.2d 1022, 1024 (10th
Cir. 1992)).

Summary judgment is not a “disfared procedural shortcutCelotex 477 U.S. at 327.
Instead, it is an important procedure “desijfte secure the just, speedy and inexpensive
determination of every action.’Id. (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 1).

B. McDonnell Douglas Framework

A plaintiff advancing a claim of discrimitian or retaliation mayprove his claim with

direct or indirect (circumstantial) evidencéwigg v. Hawker Beechcraft Cor59 F.3d 987,
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1000 (10th Cir. 2011). Wheredlplaintiff relies on circumstantial evidence, MeDonnell
Douglasburden-shifting framework applie®a\damson v. Multi Cmty. Diversified Servs., Inc.
514 F.3d 1136, 1145 (10th Cir. 2008&e also Kendrick v. Penske Transp. Servs,, 226. F.3d
1220, 1226 (10th Cir. 2000) (“[T]he three-pittDonnell Douglasurden-shifting analysis is
limited to the summary judgment context.”). Untlds framework, the plaintiff has an initial
burden to make out a prima facie cadenes v. Barnhast349 F.3d 1260, 1266 (10th Cir. 2003).
In its most basic form, a prima facie case requhieglaintiff to establish that: (1) he “is a
member of a protected class”; (2) he “sufteam adverse employment action”; and (3) “the
challenged action occurred under circumstancesgitige to an inference of discrimination.”
Bennett v. Windstream Commc’ns., @2 F.3d 1261, 1266 (10th Cir. 2015). Depending on
the nature of discrimination and adveesaployment action alleged, hybrids of tieDonnell
Douglasframework apply. If the plaintiff sustaimés initial burden, “the burden shifts to the
employer to offer a legitimate nondiscrimioey reason for the challenged actiorSeélenke v.
Med. Imaging of Col9248 F.3d 1249, 1259 (10th Cir. 2001). If the defendant advances a
legitimate non-discriminatory reasahen the burden shifts battkthe plaintiff to prove the
reason “is merely a pretextrfanlawful discrimination.”Id.
[1I. Analysis

Plaintiff has asserted several claims agadefendants: (1) race discrimination and
harassment under Title VII of the Civil Righst, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e—2000e-17, and 42 U.S.C.
8 1981; (2) color discrimination and harassmerder Title VII of theCivil Rights Act; (3)
retaliation under Title VIl othe Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1981, and the Americans with
Disabilities Act Amendments Act @008 (“ADAAA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12101-12213; (4) sex

discrimination and harassment under Title ®the Civil Rights At; and (5) disability
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discrimination and harassment under the ADAAReeDoc. 58 at 16 (Pretrial Order). The court
discusses each claim in the following sections.

A. Plaintiff's Race and Color Discrimination Claims

In Counts | and Il of his Complaint, pidiff makes claims for race and color
discrimination under Title VIl and § 1981. Ddcat 10-13 (Compl. 1 65-79). It is unlawful
under Title VII for an employer “téail or refuse to hire or tdischarge any individual, or
otherwise to discriminate agpt any individual with respeto his compensation, terms of
conditions, or privileges of emmyment, because of such indlval’'s race.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-
2(a). Section 1981 of Title 42, meanwhile, pr@gd cause of action when an employee can
establish that his employer engaged in “ititaral discrimination” on the basis of racBurham
v. Xerox Corp.18 F.3d 836, 839 (10th Cir. 1994). Where a plaintiff relies on circumstantial
evidence to support a claim of discriminatiomder either Title VII or § 1981, his claim is
subject to thécDonnell Douglasurden-shifting frameworkSee id(applying framework to
§ 1981 claim)fFischer v. Forestwood Cdb25 F.3d 972, 978 (10th Cir. 2008) (applying
framework in Title VII setting).

Plaintiff must carry the burden of proving tfidlowing essential elements for his Title
VIl and 8§ 1981 claims: “(1) [plaintiff] belongs tprotected class; (Be was qualified for his
job; (3) despite his qualificationke was discharged; and (4) {hb was not eliminated after his
discharge.”Kendrick 220 F.3d at 122%ee alsd>oc. 58 at 16 (Pretrial Order}By
establishing @rima faciecase, the plaintiff in a Title VII action creates a rebuttable
‘presumption that the employer unlawjudiscriminated against’ him.'U.S. Postal Bd. of
Governors v. Aikengt60 U.S. 711, 714 (1983). “The critigaima facie inquiry in all cases is

whether the plaintiff has demdrasted that the adverse emmpmhent action occurred ‘under
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circumstances which givese to an inference of wawful discrimination.” Kendrick 220 F.3d
at 1227. “[T]ermination of gualified minority employee raisesdlrebuttable inference of
discrimination in every case which the position is naliminated” Perry v. Woodward199
F.3d 1126, 1140 (10th Cir. 199%ge also Barlow v. C.R. England, In¢03 F.3d 497, 505 (10th
Cir. 2012) (“Plaintiff can also show he was teratgd and replaced in aly he was qualified for,
‘because it is facially illogicatio randomly fire an otherwise qualified employee and thereby
incur the considerabkexpense and loss of productivity asisted with hiring and training a
replacement.” (quotinderry, 199 F.3d at 1140)).

If plaintiff proves the foregoing elementefendants must come forward with a
legitimate non-discriminatory reaséor discharging plaintiff. Ifprovided, the “full burden of

persuasion’ then shifts back to plaintiff toasv defendants’ proffered reason is pretextual.
Swackhammer v. Sprint/United Mgmt. C93 F.3d 1160, 1167 (10th CR007) (“At this point
[in the burden-shifting framework], the presurnoptiof discrimination crdad by the plaintiff's
prima facie case ‘simply drops out of the picture $8g alsdoc. 58 at 16—17 (Pretrial Order).
“A plaintiff may [discharge his burden teshow pretext by demonstrating the ‘proffered
reason is factually false,” or that ‘discrimation was a primary factor in the employer’s
decision.” DePaula v. Easter Seals El Mirad@59 F.3d 957, 970 (10th Cir. 2017) (quoting
Tabor v. Hilti, Inc, 703 F.3d 1206, 1218 (10th Cir. 2013)). “This is often accomplished ‘by
revealing weakness, implausibilities, inconsistesicincoherences, or contradictions in the
employer’s proffered reason, such that a reasoriabldinder could deem the employer’s reason
unworthy of credence.”1d. (quotingTabor, 703 F.3d at 1216). When evaluating a plaintiff's

showing of pretext, a court “may not secondgguthe business judgment of the employéd.”

(quotingDewitt v. Sw. Bell Tel. Cp845 F.3d 1299, 1307 (10th Cir. 2017)). “Evidence that the
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employer ‘should not have made the terminatienision—for example, that the employer was
mistaken or used poor business judgmentreissufficient to show that the employer’s
explanation is unwoalnty of credibility.” Id. at 970-71 (quotin@wackhamme#r93 F.3d at
1169-70). And, a court must examine the faofgporting the adverse pioyment action “as
they appear[edp the person making the decisjbasking whether the decisionmaker “honestly
believed those reasons and actedand faith upon those beliefsId. (first quotingeEOC v.
C.R. England, In¢.644 F.3d 1028, 1044 (10th Cir. 2011); then quoBagckhamme#r93 F.3d
at 1170).
1. Parties’ Arguments

Defendants assert that plaintiff neither caake a prima facie case of discrimination nor
establish pretext. First, defendants arguaingff cannot satisfy the second element of his
claim: he was qualified for fijob. Specifically, defendantsrect the court to the Social
Security Administration’s determination thaapitiff was disabled effective November 30, 2016.
And, on December 16, 2016, plaintiff represented éadtinsas Department of Labor that he was
unable to work, defendants assert. Plaintiff's note from the Mayo Clinic informed defendants’
Medical Department—defendants argue—thatrpifiineeded to “refrain from strenuous
activities,” which defendants interpreted to me&intiff required sedentary work. Doc. 62 at
23. Because defendants had niesgary positions available tmn-seniority-based employees,
they contend plaintiff wasn’t qualified to fierm any job at the Fairfax Plant. Second,
defendants argue, they consistently have adtiedla legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for
terminating plaintiff's employmet: plaintiff's violation ofattendance rules. And, third,

defendants assert thaapitiff cannot establish a triable igsaof pretext. Defendants contend
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their offer of continued employme“undermine[s] any suggestiorati{p]laintiff's race or color
had anything to do witfdefendants’] decision.’ld. at 27.

Plaintiff responds, asserting thHa¢ was qualified to work aime assembly line even with
his disability and, in any event, has carriedthisden to establish adble issue pretext.
Plaintiff asserts that the summanglgment facts show he diw “heavy lifting” in his position
on the assembly line, and that he was seat#dteawachine he worked with “ran its course.”
Doc. 68 at 42. He also argues that defendants’ non-discriminatory reason for firing him is
pretextual for several reasorBirst, he contends, defendginteason for terminating his
employment is false. Defendants have no wagstertain whether plaifftfollowed procedures
for calling in his absences, he argues, and thegatashow that plaintiff failed to comply with
their call-in policy. Second, plaiiff asserts, defendants pide inconsistent reasons for
terminating his employment, explaining at differédmes that plainti both was and was not
fired for violating defendants’ shop rules. Thiptaintiff argues that defendants failed to follow
their own policies because theyléa to give him a warningkeut his attendance and failed to
consider his calls to the absentee phonevinen making their desion to terminate his
employment. Fourth, plaintiff copares himself to Mr. Corneliuarguing that defendants did
not discipline Mr. Cornelius even after he had admitted violating defendants’ rules when he
threw an object at plaintiff.

2. Has plaintiff established a prima facie claim of race and color
discrimination?

The court first addresses whether pldiritas made a prima facie race and color
discrimination claim. Defendants dot contest that plaintiff behgs to a protected class as an
African American man, that he walischarged from his job, andathis job was not eliminated

after defendants fired plaintifiSee Kendrick220 F.3d at 1229.
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Defendants focus their argument, insteadwbether plaintiff was qualified to perform
his assembly line job. Viewintpe summary judgment facts in plaintiff's favor, a reasonable
jury could conclude that plaintiff was qualified fois position despite his reported disability. A
doctor from defendants’ Medical Departmentel&tark, concluded that plaintiff required
sedentary work after she received a note fraampff’'s treating doctor at the Mayo Clinic. The
note explained that plaintiff needed to refraimm strenuous activityBut, a jury reasonably
could determine that plaintiff could have ddrie assembly line job—which didn’t require him
to lift heavy objects and allowddm to sit regularly—even withis reported diability. Mr.

Dall, another treating physician, opined that plaintiff “became unable to work on October 10th,
2016.” Doc. 68-9 at 11 (Dall Dep. 9:4-11). Mr. Dallo testified that pintiff was “not in a
position to work at the assembly line,” butdssumed that assembly line work was a “very
active type of physical labor.Id. at 14 (Dall Dep. 12:18-13:5).

Based on the summary judgment facts desugilpiaintiff's exactrole on the assembly
line, a reasonable jury could conclude thairgiff still was qualified for his position because
Mr. Dall had no personal knowledgéthe assembly line positions at the Fairfax Pl&ge id.
at 15 (Dall Dep. 13:1-12). Viewing all facts and infexes in plaintiff's favorat the least a fact
guestion exists whether plaintiffas qualified for his position. Theurt thus moves to the next
step in theMicDonnell Douglagramework: determining whethdefendants have articulated a
legitimate, non-discriminatory reasorr terminating plaintiff's employment.

3. Have defendants provided a legitimee non-discriminatory reason for
terminating plaintiff's employment?

Defendants assert that they terminated pfsiemployment because he violated their
attendance policy. Plaintiff argues this reason ipésea pretext, contvied to hide the real

reasonj.e., discrimination based on racedacolor, defendants firedrhi Plaintiff directs the

21



court to inconsistencies in defemdsi rationale for firing him, dendants’ failure to adhere to

their policies, and defendantseitment of Mr. Cornelius—an enagkee, plaintiff asserts, who is
similarly situated to him. But, plaintiff seadduced no admissible evidence demonstrating that
defendantsdidn’t honestly bkeve” their reason for firing him-e., his unexcused absences.
Robinson v. St. John Med. Ctr., In@45 F. App’x 644, 649 (10th Cir. 2016). The summary
judgment facts establish that defendants cowdhiinate . . . employment for unsatisfactory
performance and disregard of GM’s expectationany unexcused absences, violation of Shop
Rules or Plant/GM Policies.” Doc. 62-5 atRefendants’ policies explaithe call-in procedure

for reporting absences, but caution that callingefrt an absence does not mean the absence is
approved.

Even though defendants didn’t provide ptéf a warning before terminating his
employment and defendants’ corpte representative testified that plaintiff wasn't fired for
violating defendants’ shop ruleese facts alone cannot negdeéendants’ proffered reason for
firing plaintiff. A plaintiff can show pretext “with evidenceatthe defendant acted contrary to
a written company policy presbing the action to be ken by the defendant under the
circumstances.’Kendrick 220 F.3d at 1230. But, “[t]hmerefact that anemployerfailed to
follow its own internalproceduresioesnot necessarilysuggesthat theemployerwasmotivated
by illegal discriminatoryintentor that thesubstantiveeasongiven by theemployerfor its
employmentecisionwerepretextual’ Hysten v. Burlington N. Santa Fe Ry. GHL5 F. App’X
897, 905-06 (10th Cir. 2011) (quotiRandle v. City of Aurorg9 F.3d 441, 454 (10th Cir.
1995)) (affirming district court’s grant of summnggudgment for employer). “[T]he standard for
establishing pretext requires eviderof not just any procedursthortfall, but of a ‘disturbing

procedural irregularity,” ofte exemplified by an employer‘falsifying or manipulating of
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relevant criteria.” Cooper v. Wal-Mart Stores, In@296 F. App’x 686, 696 (10th Cir. 2008)
(first quotingTimmerman v. U.S. Bank, N,A83 F.3d 1106, 1122 (10th Cir. 2007); then quoting
Plotke v. White405 F.3d 1092, 1104 (10th Cir. 2005)) é¢imtal citations omitted) (affirming
district court’s grant of sumary judgment for employer).

For example, irHysten the Tenth Circuit explained thtte defendant violated an
internal policy that “says nothing about the mdaral protocol for terminating employees.” 415
F. App’x at 906. The plaintiff had “offeef] no evidence of any connection between
[defendant’s] breach of [its internal policy] ajttfendant’s] decision to terminate [plaintiff's]
employment.”Id. The plaintiff also made no “attempteaplain how this proedural violation
... [was] probative of discriminatory intentltl. Plaintiff here has failed in the same way. He
hasn't provided any evidence linking defendantdufa to provide a warning about his absences
to a discriminatory motive or to defendardgcision to terminate plaintiff's employment.
Plaintiff also hasn’t adduced evidence tendimghow that defendasitpolicy of issuing
warnings “prescribe[d]” the “protml” for terminating employmentSee id.

Defendants’ categorization of unexcused abes as a violation of shop rules in one
instance and not a violation inhafrs also does not render thaioffered explanation “unworthy
of belief.” DePaulg 859 F.3d at 97Gsee also Jaramillo v. Colo. Judicial DepA27 F.3d 1303,
1310-12 (10th Cir. 2005) (affirminggdrict court’s grant of samary judgment for employer
and explaining that “the mere fact that the ghefant] has offered diffenéexplanations for its
decision does not create a genujgestion of pretext”). Plaiiff has not demonstrated that
defendants’ underlying proffedlaeason changed over the cmuof this litigation.

Finally, any discrepancy betwedefendants’ response to MZornelius’s admission that

he violated shop rules and their responsgdmtiff’'s unexcused absences will not negate
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defendants’ purported non-discrimingy reason for firing plaintiff.“Individuals are considered
‘similarly situated’ when they deal with the samgervisor, are subjected to the same standards
governing performance evaluatiand discipline, and have ermggal in conduct of ‘comparable
seriousness.”Lollis v. City of Eufaula249 F. App’x 20, 27 (10tlir. 2007) (first quoting
McGowan v. City of Eufalad72 F.3d 736, 745 (10th Cir. 2006) (analyzing whether employee
was “similarly situated” in Title VII race discrimination case); then ciiadguero v. City of
Clovis 366 F.3d 1168, 1176 (10th Cir. 2004) (applying teimilarly situated” test to 8§ 1981
and 1983 claims); then citifgrake v. City of Fort Collins927 F.2d 1156, 1162 (10th Cir.1991)
(“[T]he elements of a plaintif§ case are the same . . . whethat case is brought under 88 1981
or 1983 or Title VII.")). Here, plaintiff aanot question defendants’ business judgment to
terminate plaintiff's employment by comparindgatdefendants’ response to Mr. Cornelius’s
infraction. Plaintiff hasn’t deomstrated how defendants’ vamgiresponses to different policy
violations calls into question endants’ non-discriminatory reastor firing plaintiff. In other
words, plaintiff hasn’t satisfied the Tenth Giits standard for showing that his unexcused
absences are comparable to Mr. @liurs’s violations in the workplace.

Also, plaintiff hasn’t asserted facts showing a discrir@namotive factored into
defendants’ decision to termimatis employment, let alone sedvas a primary influencesee
DePaulg 859 F.3d at 970The “pretext inquiry is a motive inquiryS8ydney v. ConMed Elec.
Surgery 275 F. App’x 748, 753 (10th Cir. 2008pdaplaintiff hasn’t adduced sufficient
evidence to create a triable gties whether defendants’ motive either was driven primarily by a

discriminatory factor or that defendantsbffered reason *“is unworthy of credence Taylor v.
Cramer, Inc, No. 01-2228-GTV, 2002 WL 1461972,*dt(D. Kan. July 3, 2002) (quotingex.

Dep’t of Cmty. Affairs v. Burdind50 U.S. 248, 256 (1981)Viewed in the light most favorable
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to plaintiff, a reasonable jury could not assess the summary judgment facts and conclude
defendants’ articulated reason fwing plaintiff—his unexcused aences—is “factually false.”
DePaulg 859 F.3d at 970Likewise, a reasonable jury couldt conclude that discrimination
was a primary factor in that decisiold. Because plaintiff has failed to shoulder Hisll
burden of persuasion,3wackhammer93 F.3d at 1167 (quotiriryant v. Farmers Ins. Exgh.
432 F.3d 1114, 1125 (10th Cir. 2005)), to dematsta triable questn that defendants’
proffered reason is pretextual, the court tgatefendants’ summajydgment motion against
plaintiff's claim of race and color discrimination under Title VII and § 1981.

B. Plaintiff's Sex Discrimination Claims

Plaintiff also makes a sex discrimtiwn claim under Title VIl based on his
employment’s termination. Doc. 1 at 21-24 (@bn§f 121-35). Like Title VII claims of race
discrimination, Title VII sex discrimination clais require a plaintiff to demonstrate the
following elements: “(1) [plaintiff] belongs ta protected class; ) &as qualified for her
position; (3) was discharged; and (4) her positvas not eliminated after her discharge.”
Adamson514 F.3d at 1149-50. If a plaintiff doesn’tdrey to a protected class, a “reverse
discrimination [claim] requires a determinatiomtllefendant is the ‘unusual’ employer that
discriminates against the traditionally favored clafssien, rather than women[.] ... [A male
plaintiff's] burden is higher, @uiring proof of ‘background circustances’ tendig to establish
that fact or, in the alternative, that but fos Btatus of being a mame would not have been
terminated.”1d. at 1141 (quotindNotari v. Denver Water Dep’®71 F.2d 585, 591 (10th Cir.
1992)). TheMcDonnell Douglasurden-shifting framework described above applies to Title
VIl claims of sex discrimination thaiely on circumstantial evidencéd. at 1145. But, when a

plaintiff opts to show that, but for his sex, the defendant would not have fired him, the plaintiff
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“does not benefit from the presunyptiof intentional discrimination.’ld. Instead, the plaintiff
must ‘allege and produce evidence to suppatiie facts that are $iicient to support a
reasonable inference that but for plaintiff'atsts, the challenged decision would not have
occurred.” Id. (quotingNotari, 971 F.2d at 590).
1. Parties’ Arguments

Defendants argue that plaintiff has assgmo background circumstances establishing
that defendants either discriminated against preagainst plaintiff because he is a man.
Because of his disability, plaintiff was not qdiak to work on the assembly line, defendants
contend. Defendants fired plaintiff because ofimgation of defendantgolicies, they assert.
And, defendants reiterate tharguments opposing plaintiffrece discrimination claim to
explain that their rationale forriing plaintiff wasnot pretextual.

Plaintiff, in turn, argues thatefendants’ disparate hanmdii of his complaints against
Mr. Cornelius and Ms. Hernandez establish thale employees are treated differently than
female employees.” Doc. 68 at 46. Plaintiff alsiterates the arguments he made to support his
Title VII race discrimination claims, asserting that he was qualified for his assembly line position
and that defendants’ proffered reador firing him was pretextual.

2. Has plaintiff established a prima facie claim for sex discrimination?

Plaintiff fails to carry théneavier burden of establisiy background circumstances that
tend to establish defendants discriminate aganmes. Plaintiff doesn’t compare defendants’
actions involving him to actions involving othemployees. Instead, kempares defendants’
treatment of two other employees, Mr. Corneliund Ms. Hernandez. The summary judgment
facts show that the procedures defendantsvi@ltbwhen investigating plaintiff’'s complaints

differed between Mr. Cornelius and Ms. Hernandez. Specifically, defendants interviewed
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plaintiff, Mr. Cornelius, and a third empleg identified as a witness when responding to
plaintiff's complaint against Mr. Cornelius. But, when responding to plaintiff's complaint
against Ms. Hernandez, defendants didn’t ineemanyone other than Ms. Hernandez, produce
documents containing an investigation summaryewiew plaintiff’'s complaint with him. Mr.
Cornelius was moved away from plaintiff’s waakea and received a non-disciplinary Employee
Contact form that defendants placed in his fikks. Hernandez merely received an Employee
Contact form in her file.

But, the incidents that prompted plaintiffcomplain separately about Mr. Cornelius and
Ms. Hernandez aren’t comparable with one hant Mr. Cornelius admitted to throwing an
object at plaintiff, and giintiff also complained that Mr. Cornelius had said offensive things to
him and touched him in unwelcome ways. Biajntiff complained that Ms. Hernandez had
baked and presented him with two offensive cakéswed in plaintiff's favor, a jury could not
reasonably conclude that plaintiff has addusefficient facts tending tehow that defendants
treated Mr. Cornelius and Melernandez differently because of their gend&wme Cash v.
Boeing Co,. 76 F. Supp. 2d 1229, 1233-34 (D. Kan. 1999) (considering “alleged disparate
treatment accorded other workers” that plaintiff referenced to satisfy the background
circumstances test and concludingttthe incidents were “so distinct from [plaintiff's] situation
that they cannot serve as any evide of discriminatory intent”Ewing v. TWA Rest. Grp., Inc.
No. 08-2024-CM, 2009 WL 648924, at *3 (D. Kan. Ma2, 2009) (concluding that plaintiff had
provided no evidence of “background circumstarieading to indicate defendant discriminates
against the majority” because, “§&je from the fact that plaifitwas white and the manager . . .
was black, plaintiff provides no evidence thHatendant discriminated against other white

employees”) Plaintiff has adduced facts showing only that defendants responded differently to
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Mr. Cornelius and Ms. Hernandez’s differentippviolations. This assertion, alone, is
insufficient to demonstrate that defendants ane “tinusual’ employer thatiscriminates against
the traditionally favored class of menfdamson514 F.3d at 1141 (quotingotari, 971 F.2d at
591).

The court concludes thatgahtiff has not established a prima facie case of sex
discrimination under Title VII. The court thgsants defendants’ summary judgment motion
against plaintiff's sexliscrimination claim.

C. Plaintiff's Harassment Claims

Next, plaintiff has asserted claims basedcharassment and a hostile work environment
under Title VII, § 1981, and the ADAAA. Doc. 1 at 10-16 (Compl. 11 65-94), 21-24 (Compl.
19 121-35), 25-28 (Compl. 1 145-60). These cledpgire him to show the following
elements: (1) [plaintiff] is a member of a protecaroup; (2) [he] wasubject to unwelcome
harassment; (3) the harassment was based on $&cegr disability]; and (4) [due to the
harassment’s severity or pervasmess], the harassment alteradran, condition, or privilege of
the plaintiff’s employment and creatad abusive working environmentl’ounds v. Lincare,
Inc., 812 F.3d 1208, 1222 (10th Cir. 2015) (first tha¢terations added) (evaluating racial
harassment claim¥ee also Dick v. Phone Directories C897 F.3d 1256, 1262—63 (10th Cir.
2005) (evaluating sexual harassment clalmjyman v. Johnson Cty., KaB93 F.3d 1151, 1155
(10th Cir. 2004) (holding that “hostile wodavironment claim[s] can be brought under the
ADA").

Plaintiff first concedes that he has nghausted his administrative remedies for his
claims of harassment against Mr. Cornelius. Doc. 68 at 48—49. Instead, he focuses on two other

incidents: (1) the alleged harassment by MsnHedez based on race, color, and sex; and (2)
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defendants’ offer of employment in Noveent2016, which, he argues, “constitutes both
harassment and retaliation” based on his disabiecause plaintiff's new start date “would
preclude [him] from the terms of employméra earned from his previous duration of
employment.”ld. at 51. When analyzing plaintiff's hessment claims, the court thus focuses
on these two incidents.

1. Has plaintiff established a prima facie claim of harassment based on race,
color, and sex?

Defendants could be liabta plaintiff's sexual harassmeclaim under two different
theories: “(1) vicarious liality; or (2) negligence.”Chavez-Acosta v. Sw. Cheese Co.,,LLC
610 F. App’'x 722, 729 (10th Cir. 2015) (citatiommwitted). “Generally, the vicarious liability
theory applies only when the harasser is arsug@, while the negligence theory applies when
the harasser is a co-workeid. (citing Kramer v. Wasatch Cty. Sheriff's Offjcél3 F.3d 726,
755 (10th Cir. 2014))see als@ademy v. Union Pac. Cor®14 F.3d 1132, 1155 (10th Cir.
2008) (concluding that employer could be Hedle on plaintiff's§ 1981 racial harassment
claim because it “failed to ‘discharge its obligatiby taking appropriate meedial or preventive
action” (quotingAdler, 144 F.3d at 676)Faragalla v. Douglas Cty. Sch. Dist. RE4111 F.

App’x 140, 151-52 (10th Cir. 2011) (applying negige standard to Title VIl and § 1981
hostile work environment claims). Plaintiff's ctahere contends in part that Ms. Hernandez, a
coworker, harassed him based on his race, cahaf sex. Itis uncontroverted that Ms.
Hernandez did not act as plaffis supervisor. The court tis considers whether defendants
acted negligently in response to plaintifemplaint about Ms. Hernandez’s actions.

To establish negligence undeistbrand of racial or sexuaarassment, plaintiff must
show—in addition to the four elements of herassment claims—that defendants “had actual or

constructive knowledge of the hostile work enmimeent but did not adegtedy respond to notice
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of the harassment.Adler, 144 F.3d at 673 (citation omittedge also Macias v. Sw. Cheese
Co., LLG 624 F. App’x 628, 637 (10th Cir. 2015). aRitiff can show actual knowledge “where
the plaintiff has reported harassmamtmanagement-level employee®dler, 144 F.3d at 673
(citation omitted).

Here, the court evaluates whether plaintif§ laaduced sufficient facts to make a prima
facie case of harassment based on race, @idrsex. Specifically, the court focuses on
whether the harassment plaintiff experienced sea®re or pervasive, as the Tenth Circuit
requires. Smith v. Nw. Fin. Acceptance, Int29 F.3d 1408, 1413 (10th Cir. 1997) (conduct
must be “sufficiently pervasevor sufficiently severe”)Plaintiff has conceded he cannot base
his harassment claims on Mr. Celins’s actions because he fdil® report them in a timely
manner to the EEOCSeeDoc. 68 at 48—49. Also, plaintiff newprovides any facts showing he
notified defendants about comments that he adsisrtsoworkers made about his penis. And, he
has adduced no evidence showing how defendanisl have had consittive notice of these
comments. The sole incidengpitiff reported to his supervisatoe Heany, and then to Labor
Relations Representative Michael Poirier, inealthe penis cakes that plaintiff asserts Ms.
Hernandez baked.

The Supreme Court has not reddc¢he inquiry whether condiwas severe or pervasive

to a “‘mathematically precise test.Morton v. Steven Ford-Mercury of Augusta, Ji62 F.

Supp. 2d 1228, 1241 (D. Kan. 2001) (quotitayris v. Forklift Sys., In¢.510 U.S. 17, 22
(1993)). To the contrary, our Circuithaxplained the governing rule as follows:

Some factors to be weighed include “thequency of the dicriminatory conduct;

its severity; whether it is physically gatening or humiliating, or a mere offensive
utterance; and whether it unreasonably interferes with an employee’s work
performance.” Harris, 510 U.S.] at 23[.]Because frequency is merely one factor

in the analysis, an isolated incidemiay suffice if the coduct is severe and
threatening.See, e.gLockard[v. Pizza Hut, In¢, 162 F.3d [1062, 1072 (10th Cir.
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1998)] (allowing claim basedn single incident); $mith 129 F.3d at 1413]
(conduct must be “sufficientlpervasive or sufficientlgevere”). The harassing
conduct must be “both objectivend subjectively abusive.Lockard 162 F.3d

at 1071.

Morton, 162 F. Supp. 2d at 1241. llockard for example, the Tenth Circuit concluded that a
“single incident”—one where a customer at staerant grabbed the plaintiff's hair twice,
grabbed her breast, and put his mouth omitay- be “sufficient to create an abusive
environment.” 162 F.3d at 1072. In otheords, under facts as abusiveLaskards, a
reasonable jury could conclude that the conglaintiff complainedcabout was sufficiently
severe. The Circuit also has consideredhglsiincident of allged harassment where a
plaintiff's coworker “inappropriatgy] touch[ed]” her and, when the plaintiff told her coworker
“his conduct was inappropriate,” hifted [her] either by the waigir by the wrists onto [a] pool
table and pinned her back against the pool talllzeamer v. Laidlaw Transit, Inc86 F.3d 167,
169 (10th Cir. 1996). Icreamer the Circuit affirmed the dtrict court’s order granting
summary judgment, which had cdmged that the conduct plaintéisserted “fell short” of the
standards for severignd pervasivenesdd. at 170.

Plaintiff asserts that the pantakes and his coworkers’ comments about the size of his
penis were unwelcome and created a hostile workronment. He also contends that
defendants’ responseke., reminding Ms. Hernandez of defendants’ policies and placing an
Employee Contact form in her file—were not r@aably calculated to pwent plaintiff from
facing subsequent harassment.

The court concludes, first, that plaintiff$xadduced sufficient evidence to raise a triable
issue whether defendants took steps “reaslynzalculated to end the harassment™ he

experienced.Tademy 614 F.3d at 1148 (quotirdler, 144 F.3d at 676). Even though plaintiff

reported the cakes and his discomfort with therhis supervisor, Joe Heany, Mr. Heany took no
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action in response. And, afteapitiff reported the cakes to MPoirier, Mr. Poirier merely
spoke with Ms. Hernandez, warned her alamiendants’ Anti-Harassment policy, and issued
her an Employee Contact form. Based on tlseabe of investigative steps and disciplinary
decisions, a jury could find thdefendants failed to take stegasonably calculated to end the
harassment plaintiff experienced.

Next, the court analyzes whether Ms. Hernandez’s conduct was severe or pervasive.
Viewing the facts here in plaifitis favor, the penis cakes presemte plaintiff for his birthday,
while distasteful, do not rise the level of severity the Circuitas described for a single episode
of harassment. Plaintiff reported to Mr. Poitileat the cakes were offensive to him and made
him uncomfortable. Plaintiff also testifiedaththe workplace was a “stressful environment”
because he was around people who thoughtnofdsi a “sexual object.” Doc. 68-5 at 144
(Redmon Dep. 142:6-16). But, the summary judgrfeis also establish that plaintiff posted
photos of the cakes on his Facebook page. plaihtiff provides no facts showing that the
cakes or any associated behavior duringiti@tent were “severand threatening.Morton,

162 F. Supp. 2d at 1241. Taken together, the fafcthe alleged harassment—the incident
involving the cakes—fail to createtriable issue whether the pgiakes created a “workplace
... permeated with discriminatory intimidatioidicule, and insult . . . sufficiently severe or
pervasive to alter the conditions of [plaintff’employment and create an abusive working
environment.” Penry v. Fed. Home Loan Bank of Topekab F.3d 1257, 1261 (10th Cir. 1998)
(internal quotations omitted).

Plaintiff has failed to adduce evidence capatflsupporting an essential element of his
harassment claims based on race, color, anddamely, he has failed to marshal evidence that

the single incident of harassment hpared and complained about—the cakes—were
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sufficiently severe to establish prima faciedssment claims undertlE VII and 8§ 1981. The
court thus grants defendants’ sumynmdgment motion against these claims.

2. Has plaintiff established a prima face claim of harassment based on his
disability?

A hostile work environment claim under tABAAA requires a plaintiff to “present
evidence from which a rational jury couladi that [the] workplace was permeated with
discriminatory intimidation, ridicule, and insultahwas sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter
the terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, hiecharassment stemmed from disability-
related animus."Schlecht v. Lockheed Martin Coyp26 F. App’x 775, 779 (10th Cir. 2015);
see alscAramburu v. Boeing Cpl112 F.3d 1398, 1410 (10th Cir. 1997)o survive summary
judgment, the plaintiff must show that under tbility of the circumstances (1) the harassment
was pervasive or severe enouglalier the terms, conditions, privilege of employment, and
(2) the harassment was based on the victim's . . . disability.”).

Plaintiff asserts that defendants’ ofterrehire him in November 2016 constitutes
harassment. On November 17, 2016, plaintiff gd¢efendants’ Medical Omrtment notes from
his treating physician at the Mag@inic that described the phgal limitation affecting his
employment. Later, defendants offered gdiéfia position as a two-des-per-week temporary
employee with a new hire date. This neweldate, plaintiff arguge deprived him of
employment benefits that temporary employeeeive after working for defendants for a certain
amount of time. Plaintiff compares this empl@mhoffer with the offer defendants made to him

in September 2016, when defendants reinstated lptogment with his orighal start date. The
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only difference between the two offers, pldintontends, was plairffis physical limitation
when he returned to work in November 2016.

But, plaintiff doesn’t explain how defenats’ November 2016 employment decision
shows that plaintiff's workplaceras “permeated with discrimitay intimidation, ridicule, and
insult . . . sufficiently severe @ervasive to alter the terms, conditions, or privileges of [his]
employment.” Roecker v. BrennamNo. 15-7201-DDC-JPO, 2017 WA45504, at *15 (D. Kan.
Feb. 2, 2017). Defendants firpthintiff on November 2, 2016. Their employment offer later
that month could not have affected the kydace because plaintiff was not employed when
defendants extended the offer. eTdourt thus concludes that pitif has failed to provide facts
supporting an essential element of his ADAAAdssment claim. The court thus grants
defendants’ summary judgmembtion against that claim.

D. Plaintiff's Retaliation Claims

Plaintiff also has asserted retaliation eiaiunder Title VIl and § 1981. Doc. 1 at 16-17
(Compl. {1 95-103), 19-21 (Compl. 11 111-20), 24—25ngpl. 11 136—44), 29-30 (Compl.

11 161-69).His “prima faciecase [must] demonstrat[e] tha) (fe . . . engaged in protected
activity, (2) he . . . suffered a material acseeaction, and (3) thereas a causal connection
between the protected activiaind the adverse actionThomas v. Berry Plastics Cor@03

F.3d 510, 514 (10th Cir. 2015) (citiigyowe v. ADT Sec. Servs., In649 F.3d 1189, 1195 (10th
Cir. 2011)). Retaliation claims brought undet381 are limited to retalien that is based on
protected activity inviwing race, not sexRunyon v. McCrary427 U.S. 160, 167 (1976And,

“[w]hen a plaintiff presents oglcircumstantial evidence, tidcDonnell Douglasurden-
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shifting framework typically applies.1d. (citing Ward v. Jewell772 F.3d 1199, 1202 (10th Cir.
2014)).
1. Parties’ arguments

Defendants argue that plaifithas failed to exhaust his administrative process for
retaliation claims because, in each of the two @ésmof Discrimination he filed with the EEOC,
he didn’t identify retaliation as one of the ba&®shis Charge. Plaintiff responds, asserting that
his first Charge of Discrimination with tieEOC, filed on November 18, 2016, is the protected
activity against which defendamstaliated. He filed his Chargefew days before defendants
offered him a two-day temporappsition with a new hire datélhe new hire date, plaintiff
argues, deprived him of benefits he had aatdiging his earlier temporary employment. And,
in his March 22, 2017, Amended Charge of Dimmation, plaintiffexplained that his
“termination based on [his] disability caused [him] to lose [his] full time temp status and the
benefits therein.” Doc. 68 at 60. Becausdilked his original Chargdefore the purported
retaliatory act, plaintiff asserts that “the redtdiry action is reasonablylated to the charge.”
Doc. 68 at 58see also Brown v. Hartshorne Pub. Sch. Dist. N862 F.2d 680, 682 (10th Cir.
1988) (“[A]n act committed by an employer in retabatifor the filing of an EEOC complaint is
reasonably related to that complaint, obwigthe need for a second EEOC compla)ntNealon
v. Stone958 F.2d 584, 590 (4th Cir. 1992) (holding ptdf need not exhaust administrative
remedies for post-EEOC charge retaliationrol@iecause conciliatory purpose of exhaustion no

longer advanced). Defendants were put on nafites retaliation clans, plaintiff argues,
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because of his explanation of his post-termindtigs of benefits. Thus, he contends, the court
shouldn’t bar these claims administratively unexhausted.

On the merits of his retaliation claimapitiff asserts that defendants made their
November 2016 employment offer just days aftempitiifiled his first EEOC Charge. He relies
on temporal proximity between his protectethdty and defendants’ employment offer with

fewer benefits to establish “‘an inference aof #xistence of a causadnnection between the two
events.” Id. at 69 (quotingEEOC v. PVNF, LLC487 F.3d 790, 804 (10th Cir. 2007)). But,
defendants reply, directing the cbta an exhibit showing thegceived no notice of plaintiff's
November 18, 2016, Charge of Discrimination.e HEOC authored a letter dated November 30,
2016, to defendant General Motors’ then-coungaldrick Gillum, informing him of plaintiff's
Charge. Doc. 70 at 13-14 (citing Doc. 70-4 at 2).

2. Did plaintiff administratively exhaust his retaliation claims?

“[A] plaintiff's failure to file an EEOC chage regarding a discre@mployment incident
merely permits the employer to raise an affirmatiefense of failure to exhaust but does not bar
a federal court from assuming jurisdiction over a claimdricoln v. BNSF Ry. C0900 F.3d
1166, 1185-86 (10th Cir. 201&ge also Fort Bend Cty. v. Dayido. 18-525, slip op. at 1-2
(June 3, 2019) (“Prerequisites to suit likdddNVII's charge-filing instruction are not
[jurisdictional]; they are properly ranked among #irray of claim-processing rules that must be
timely raised to come into play.”). “Theiprary distinction between treating exhaustion as
jurisdictional rather than as an affirmative defemséhat as an affirmative defense it is subject
to waiver and estoppel. The difference isnaterial where waiver and estoppel do not come

into play.” Brown v. Keystone Learning Servso. 17-2211-JAR, 2018 WL 6042592, at *5 (D.

Kan. Nov. 19, 2018) (appeal docketed March 25, 2029, courts “must librally construe the

36



administrative charge to determine whethgrarticular claim rebeen exhaustedld. Courts

must look to “the scope of the administrativeestigation that can reaisably be expected to
follow from the discriminatory acts alleged in the administrative chardd.’{quotingJones v.
U.P.S., Inc.502 F.3d 1176, 1186 (10th Cir. 2007)).

Here, plaintiff did not select retaliation adasis for any of his Charges. And, itis
uncontroverted that defendants/eanot waived their affirmave defense of administrative
exhaustion—they asserted the deke in their Answer (Doc. 12 &8). But, the Tenth Circuit
directs that a purportedly retaliatorytiaa that follows an EEOC Charge iseasonably related”
to that Charge and doesn't require a plaintiffiltna second Charge to exhaust his administrative
remedies.See Brown864 F.2d at 68%ee also Nealqrd58 F.2d at 590. The court thus
concludes that plaintiff has exiigted his administrative remedifor his retaliation claims
before bringing them as paot his lawsuit under Title VI$.

3. Has plaintiff established a prima facie claim of retaliation?

Next, the court considers tineerits of plaintiff's retaliion claims. Defendants argue
that plaintiff has failed to establish a causahnection between hisqiected activity and the
alleged adverse employment action. Plainfifdears to assert thiais first Charge of
Discrimination with the EEOC, filed on Nowndber 18, 2016, is the protected activity that
spurred defendants to retaliate. He filed hisu@k a few days before defendants offered him a
two-day temporary position with a new hire datde new hire date, plaintiff argues, deprived

him of benefits he had accrued during his eatéerporary employment. He relies on temporal

proximity between his protected activity andetelants’ employment offer with fewer benefits

3 Unlike a Title VIl retaliation claim, nadministrativeexhaustiorrequirement applies to claims brought under
§1981.CBOCS W., Inc. v. Humphrigg53 U.S. 442, 455 (2008).
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to establish “an inference of the existence@fausal connection beten the two events.”

Doc. 68 at 69 (quotinBVNF, 487 F.3d at 804). But, defendaméply, they received no notice
of plaintiff's November 18, 2016, Charge ofdorimination until November 30, 2016, when the
EEOC dated a letter to defendant General Mbtben-counsel Roderick Gillum, informing him
of plaintiff's Charge. Doc. 70 dt3—-14 (citing Doc. 70-4 at 2).

Plaintiff offers no evidence suggesting that defendants had notice of his first EEOC
Charge before they offered him two-day temppemnployment with a att date of November
28, 2016. They made that offer two days betbeesEEOC dated its letter informing defendants
that plaintiff had filed a Chargeaf Discrimination. Plaintiff assestthat his Charge “result[ed]”
in the “materially adverse” employment offer tligprived him of benefits, but he can’t explain
how defendants knew about the Charge befuaking the allegedly retaliatory offegee
Bertsch v. Overstock.cqrd84 F.3d 1023, 1028 (10th Cir. 2012) prima facie retaliation case
is made if the plaintiff shows that she enghgeprotected opposition @iscrimination, and, as
a result, suffered materiallylgerse action . . . .” (citinBurlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v.
Whiteg 548 U.S. 53, 68 (2006))brogated on other groundkincoln, 900 F.3d at 1185-86ge
also Lincoln 900 F.3d at 1212-13 (“[D]ecisionmaker(s)shbave knowledge of the protected
activity. For how can decisionmakers retaliataiagt an employee forkeng protected activity
if they do not know abouhe protected activity?”).

Consistent with these case authorities,citngrt concludes that gihtiff has failed to
adduce facts supporting an essémiament of his ADAAA retaliation claim. The court thus

grants defendants’ summary judgmhenotion against this claim.
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E. Plaintif's ADAAA Dis crimination Claim

Plaintiff asserts a separate discrimioatclaim based on his disability under the
ADAAA. Doc. 1 at 25-28 (Compl. 11 145-607T]o establish a prima facie case of
discriminationunder theADAAA , a plaintiff must show that (He is disabled as defined under
the ADAAA ; (2) he is qualified, witlor without reasonable aaoonodation by the employer, to
perform the essential functions of the job; &)dhe was discriminated against because of his
disability.” Adair v. City of Muskoge@®23 F.3d 1297, 1304 (10th Cir. 2016). The ADAAA
provides that “[t]he definition oflisability . . . be construed in favor of broad coverag#d."at
1306 (quoting ADA Amendments Act of 2008, Pub. L. No. 110-325, § 4(a), 122 Stat. 3553
(codified as amended 42 U.S.C. 88 12101-12218hd, the Tenth Circuit considers the
following factors when determining “whethaiparticular functioms essential”:

(1) the employer’s judgment as to whiftinctions are essential; (2) written job

descriptions; (3) the time spent perfong the particular function; (4) the

consequences if the individual cannot perform the function; (5) any collective-
bargaining agreement; (6) the work expecenf those in the position in the past;

and (7) the current work experience of those in similar positiohat 1307 (citing

29 C.F.R. § 1630.2(n)(3)).

To satisfy the third element of a prinacfe case, a plaintiff must “present some
affirmative evidence that disdity was a determining facton the employer’s decision.”
Morgan v. Hilti, Inc, 108 F.3d 1319, 1323 (10th Cir. 1993¢e also Markham v. Boeing Co.
No. 10-1363-MLB, 2011 WL 6217117, at *4{B. Kan. Dec. 14, 2011) (applyingorgan
standard to claim brought und&@DAAA). “This burden is ‘not oneus’ but it is also ‘not
empty or perfunctory.””’Morgan 108 F.3d at 1323—-24 (citation omitted) (quotignis v. Nat'l
Ass’n of Bus. & Educ. Radio, In&3 F.3d 55, 59 (4th Cir. 1995)). In other words Ht]

plaintiff must present evidence thétthe trier of fact finds itredible, and the employer remains

silent, [he] would be entitled fodgment as a matter of lawld. at 1324.
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1. Has plaintiff established a prima face claim of discrimination under the
ADAAA?

As with plaintiff's race and color discrimation claims, defendants, for purposes of
summary judgment, seem to challenge just oement of the analysis: whether plaintiff was
qualified for his position on the assembly lineefendants did nathallenge—at least at
summary judgment—whether plaintiff had a disability. And, the court again determines that a
reasonable jury could conclude plaintiff was lifiead to perform his assembly line job despite
his reported disability. Defendts’ corporate representativea-Sandra Tutt, explained that
defendants maintain current job elements destriptions. Doc. 68-3 at 19 (Tutt Dep. 66:22—
68:22). But, in their responses to plaintiff’s Requests for Productiomatefes represented that
they “do not maintain job desptions or historic Job Eleme8heets.” Doc. 68-13 at 8. The
parties have not provided a vieih job description for plairftis position when he worked for
defendants.

Defendants also assert that employeesampff’s position were required to walk and
stand as part of their jobs. But, defendalus’t contest that platiif—and other employees
working on the same assembly line—spent some time working in a seated pdsitierStarka
doctor employed in defendants’ Medical Departmeancluded that plaiift required sedentary
work after receiving a note from his treating docibthe Mayo Clinic. Tat note explained that
plaintiff needed to refrain from strenuous activiBut, a jury reasonably could determine that
plaintiff could have done his assembly liod4—which didn’t require him to lift heavy objects
and allowed him to sit regularly—even with heported disability. fiough plaintiff's treating
doctor at the Mayo Clinic opined that plaintiff s¥é&not in a position to work at the assembly

line,” that doctor also assumed that assertibg/work was a “very active type of physical
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labor.” Doc. 69-9 at 14 (Dall Dep. 12:18-13:3).reasonable jury could conclude otherwise
based on the summary judgment facts descripliaigtiff's exact role on the assembly line.

But, plaintiff hasn’t met his burden to shows tlisability was a determining factor in his
termination. In his response to defendastshmary judgment motion, plaintiff identifies no
facts explaining how his disabilifiactored into defendants’ ds@n to fire him in November
2016. In fact, the summary judgment facts dematesthat plaintiff onlypresented information
about his physical limitation to defendantsovember 17, 2016—more than two weeks after
defendants terminated his employment. Withamditional facts or argument—and plaintiff
provides none—a reasonable jury could not concthdeplaintiff has satisfied his burden on the
third element of his ADAAA discrimination claim.

Though plaintiff's qualification for his position @gsents a triable issue, plaintiff has not
provided sufficient facts or any argument abebether his disability was a determining factor
in his November 2016 termination. Thus, sinaamnilff has failed to make a prima facie claim
for discrimination under the ADAAA, the courtagrts defendants’ summary judgment motion
against this claim.

F. Plaintif's ADAAA Re taliation Claim

Finally, plaintiff brings a sgarate retaliation claim undére ADAAA. Doc. 1 at 29-30
(Compl.q1 161-69) To make a prima facie aha, he must demonstrate thét) [he] engaged
in a protected activity; (2) [dehdants] took an action thateasonable employee would have

found materially adverse; and (3) there existawasal connection betweéhe protected activity
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and the adverse actionDewitt, 845 F.3d at 1318-19. Like phaiff's other claims, his
ADAAA retaliation claim also applies tfdcDonnell Douglasurden-shifting framework.

The parties’ briefing on plaiiif's ADAAA retaliati on claim is sparse, but their papers
make the same arguments about the mefipaintiff's Title VIl and § 1981 claim$. The court
grants summary judgment against plaintiff's ADAAetaliation claim for the same reason that it
granted summary judgment against his Tileand § 1981 retaliation claims: defendants
received no notice of his first EEOC Charge iftiéf's protected activity) before they offered
him the two-days-per-week temporary position vigver benefits (their purported retaliatory
conduct). Specifically, the EEOC sent a lettated November 30, 2016, to defendant General
Motors’ then-counsel Roderick Gillum, inforng him of plaintiff's Charge. Doc. 70 at 13-14
(citing Doc. 70-4 at 2). Plairtioffers no evidence demonstrating that his Charge “result[ed]” in
the “materially adverse” employment offeath—according to plaintiff—deprived him of
benefits, and he doesn’t expidiow defendants knew about the Charge before making the
allegedly retaliatory offerSee Bertsgh684 F.3d at 10284 prima facie retaliation case is
made if the plaintiff shows that she engagegrimtected opposition to discrimination, and, as a
result, suffered materiallydaerse action . . . .” (citingvhite 548 U.S. at 68))see also Lincoln

900 F.3d at 1212-13 (“[D]ecisionmaker(s) must havewledge of the protected activity. For

4 In their Answer to the Complaint, defendants raskat plaintiff's “claims, including but not limited to his

claims of retaliation, are barred in whole or in part toetkient [p]laintiff alleges claimer seeks relief that exceed

the scope of any administrative chargey] therefore were not administrativelyhausted.” Doc. 12 at 53. But,
defendants do not raise that affirmative defense in their summary judgment arguments opgiosiifig BIDAAA
retaliation claim. Though they have not waived that defense, the court focuses on dsfeadaation argument.
SeeDoc. 70 at 13—14ee alsd.incoln, 900 F.3d at 1185-86 (holding that court still may assume jurisdiction over a
claim even if plaintiff fails to filEEEOC charge about an employment incident).
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how can decisionmakers retaliagainst an employee for takingopected activity if they do not
know about the protected activity?”).

The court thus concludes th@aintiff has failed to addudacts capable afupporting an
essential element of his ADAAA retaliation itcta The court grants defendants’ summary
judgment motion against this claim.

G. Plaintiff's Claims for Economic Damages

The court has granted defendants’ sumnpaalgment motion against each of plaintiff's
claims. The court thus does not need to addies parties’ summarugilgment arguments about
plaintiff's claims for economic damages.

IV.  Conclusion

For the reasons explained above, the coantgrdefendants’ summygjudgment motion
(Doc. 61) against all glaintiff's claims.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COURT THAT defendants General
Motors Company and General Motors LLC, GMVM Fairfax Assembly Plant’s Motion for
Summary Judgment (Do61) is granted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COURT THAT the Clerk is directed to enter a
judgment consistent with th@@rder and clas this case.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated this 6th day of June, 2019, at Kansas City, Kansas.

s/ Daniel D. Crabtree

Daniel D. Crabtree
United States District Judge
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